FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/4/2019 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/4/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97613-9

No. 78494-3

# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTINE CONNER, an individual

Appellant,

٧.

JEREMY MEADOWS, D.C.,

Respondent.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Williams, WSBA #12010 Law Office of David A. Williams 9 Lake Bellevue Dr, Ste104 Bellevue, WA 98005

Email: DAW@Bellevue-Law.com

Phone: 425-646-7767 Facsimile: 425-646-1011

Attorney for Appellant

#

# **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

The Petitioner is Chris Conner, who was the plaintiff below and the Appellant in the Court of Appeals.

# COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FROM WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT

Review is sought of the attached Opinion filed by the Court of Appeals on August 5<sup>th</sup>, 2019, No. 78494-3-I. There was no motion for reconsideration.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1) In medical malpractice cases, must "proof that injury resulted from the failure of the healthcare provider to follow the accepted standard of care" be done in a particular "format" or "script?"
- 2) Must "proof" of a standard of care violation be entirely by expert testimony, or may lay testimony be considered as well?
- 3) Whether a health care provider's own testimony, that shoulder injury is "not a recognized risk" of the chiropractic maneuver he performed upon his patient, supports a finding that such an injury was the result of a "breach of the standard of care"?
- 4) Whether such testimony----that shoulder injury is "not a recognized risk" of the maneuver---would support, for purposes of the application of *res ipsa loquitor*, a finding that such injury "does not ordinarily occur in the absence of negligence"?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Chris Conner ("Conner") began seeing Respondent

Jeromy Meadows, D.C. ("Meadows") for chiropractic care in August of

2011. On January 3, 2013, after many visits, he injured her right shoulder
during a manipulation. CP 55.

Though Meadows' contemporaneous records make no mention of any problem that day (CP 190), he recalled and admitted to the incident at his deposition four and one-half years later, acknowledging that Conner had exclaimed "Ow, this hurts". CP 152. In fact, immediately following the injury, Meadows actually <u>treated</u> the shoulder:

- A. Following the adjustment, I used a percussor to reduce muscle spasm in the shoulder and asked ''Does that feel better?' She said it did.
- Q. Did you use that specifically because of her complaint of the pain during the maneuver?
- A. Correct.

CP 154.

Meadows was asked "point blank," whether he believed he'd injured Conner, and gave this testimony:

- Q. I'll just put it as straightforward as I can; do you believe that her shoulder was injured during your adjustment?
- A. Not as severely as what comes out.
- Q. Tell me what you mean by that, please.
- A. A torn biceps tendon, labral tear and supraspinatus tear, from the mechanics of the positioning <u>doesn't appear</u> likely---
- Q. Okay.
- A. -biomechanically.

Q. Do you make room for the possibility <u>that there was</u> some sort of injury she felt? Is that what you're intending to indicate?

A. Yes.

Mr. Sheldon: Object to the form, belatedly.

Q. What sort of injury do you believe she may have suffered to her shoulder in the course of this maneuver that you performed, the supine thoracic maneuver?

A. I was never able to examine it. When I checked her after that adjustment, there was some tightness, muscle spasm in the shoulder, which simply seemed like an exacerbation of an injury that she came to me with in the right shoulder. So sort of like a mild pulled muscle from a muscle that had been injured before.

CP 151.

As previously indicated, Meadows made no contemporaneous record of the injury, examination, findings or treatment that he testified to at his deposition four and one-half years later.

A few days after the injury, Conner presented to Dr. Thomas

Degan, an orthopedist who was seeing her for other issues. Dr. Degan did

make a contemporaneous noted, from which he testified at deposition:

"So she had right shoulder pain. The possibilities would be strain of the joint or capsule, strain of the muscle about the shoulder, the muscles about the shoulder. The have tendons which assert on the humerus as the bone of the arm bone of the shoulder and so any strain in the muscle or at the tendon. So she could have had a tendon strain or a tendon tear, those would all be possibilities.

"Anything from a muscle strain or tendon tear would be possibilities in terms of—that's essentially muscles covering the bone of the shoulder. And above that would be the bursa which is a layer between the bone at the top of the shoulder blade and the muscles that cover the bone. That bursa layer is a layer of lubricating tissue. That can become inflamed after an injury and swell and become irritable and produce shoulder pain. And then in the joint itself there could be other issues. There is kind of a suction ring around the socket which could be torn or can wear

out. That could be an issue an issue of injury to the articular or cartilage surfaces.

"All those things can be a possibility. Most common things would be a bursitis or a tendonitis or a muscle strain, <u>but certainly the rotator cuff pathology either being caused or lit up would certainly be significant in the differential."</u> (emphasis added)

CP 171.

Conner's sworn interrogatory responses documented the myriad of issues triggered by the manipulation:

"After the injury, I had extreme pain going from my dominant right shoulder down to my hand. It felt like fire inside my arm and there was no position that could relieve the pain. It was worse when I lay supine to try to sleep. I had significant restriction to range of motion (ROM) which made the simplest of tasks difficult, such as showering, dressing and feeding myself, accomplishing common household tasks, driving, and much more. I had marked reduction in strength, and lifting only my arm was very painful. I was unable to actively move my right arm across the front of my body until after surgical repair and recovery."

CP 57.

Ultimately, she saw another orthopedist, Dr. Santoro, who performed surgery on March 24<sup>th</sup>, 2015. CP 61, CP 103.

Before giving his deposition, Dr. Degan had reviewed various materials, including Dr. Santoro's operative note. CP 169. In response to Defense Counsel's direct and unambiguous question, he gave the following testimony:

Q. Let me ask you this way first, and then we can go back through the things. Do you have an opinion based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty as to whether Dr. Meadows caused permanent injury to Ms. Conner's shoulder with his chiropractor adjustment on January 3, 2013?

A. <u>I think the manipulation that caused the shoulder pain and lit up the shoulder.</u> Whether or not the - if it was an injury which

occurred at that time or at aggravation or as termed lighting up of a previous condition, I can't say, but I think that the manipulation caused injury to the shoulder and caused the pain that she had at the time I saw her. And from what I've been able to garner from my conversations with her and from the review I've done, it sounds as though that pain persistent and required treatment. (emphasis added)
CP 171.

At his deposition, Meadows was specifically asked, and specifically testified that the maneuver he performed (or intended to perform) does <u>not</u> carry any "recognized risk of shoulder injury". CP 149. Indeed, he claimed that he has never injured any other patient with this maneuver, "even people who have had rotator cuff surgery and who are up for rotator cuff surgery". CP 150.

Ultimately, the case was placed into Mandatory Arbitration. CP 910. Plaintiff's Pre-Hearing Statement of Proof identified no "retained expert." CP 93-98. The PHSP made clear that Plaintiff intended to rely upon Meadows' admissions. CP 96. Meadows sought and received a continuous of the arbitration, claiming Plaintiff "doesn't have an expert." CP 121. Meadows moved for Summary Judgment on those grounds. CP 14-34. The trial court granted the Motion. CP 204-205. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Respectfully, the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is in conflict with the sum of this State's jurisprudence concerns the most fundamental rule governing summary judgment, i.e., that the evidence must be evaluated in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Here, Conner presented evidence, including her own testimony and that of her expert Dr. Degan, that she suffered a serious injury from Meadow's manipulation, which Meadows himself testified would not be a recognized risk of the maneuver.

Whatever **other** interpretation there might be of this admission, the interpretation <u>most favorable to Conner was that, when performed within</u> the standard of care, the maneuver does NOT result in injury.

Further and again: Whatever **other** interpretation there might be of this admission, when cast in the light <u>most favorable to Conner, it was a clear acknowledgement that such injury does not occur in the absence of negligence.</u>

No case holds that proof of medical negligence must come in the form of "magic words", or some "script". It is respectfully requested that this Court accept review to specifically adopt the following language from White v. Kent Medical Center, Inc., P.S., 61 Wn. App. 163, 172, 810 P.2d 4 (1991), in which Division I held that "To require experts to testify in a

particular format would elevate form over substance." The appropriate rule would be whether the sum of the "standard of care" evidence would support a finding of negligence, <u>not</u> whether the correct "script" was dutifully recited.

Further, it is respectfully requested that this Court accept review to specifically adopt the following language from <u>Douglas v. Bussabarger</u>, 73 Wn.2d 476, 478, 438 P.2d 829 (1968):

In the absence of negligence so obvious that a layman can recognize it, SOME medical testimony is necessary to support a finding that the doctor departed from the standard of reasonable care. Often this requirement becomes a difficult, almost insurmountable obstacle for plaintiffs in malpractice suits when they encounter what has been termed the 'conspiracy of silence'. But none of the cases go so far as to require that malpractice be established exclusively by the testimony of doctors. If the rule is to have any rational justification at all, it should be limited to the requirement that, in those cases in which negligence is not apparent, some medical testimony is necessary to establish the proper standard of care. See Note, Malpractice and Medical Testimony, 77 Harv. L. Rev. 333, 334-36 (1963). This would satisfy the avowed rationale of the rule in that it would prevent laymen from speculating as to what is the standard of reasonable care in a highly technical profession. But certainly it is putting a heavy burden or impediment upon the victim of medical negligence to require him to show the specific acts of negligence (as well as all the other elements of his cause of action if the trial court's words are to be taken literally) exclusively by the testimony of doctors when, frequently, as here, the only doctor who witnessed the allegedly negligent acts was the defendant." (emphasis added)

The Court went on to say, at 73 Wn.2d 481:

"The jury should have been instructed that the need for expert medical testimony is limited to <u>establishing the proper standard of care</u> that defendant Dr. Bussabarger should have followed. Furthermore, the jury should have been instructed to

<u>consider all the evidence in determining whether the defendant</u> <u>failed to meet that standard of care</u>. (emphasis added)

Conner's testimony that Meadow's maneuver on the day in question differed significantly from previous sessions is compelling. Such lay evidence should be admissible.

# CONCLUSION

Conner seeks review and reversal, that the case may be decided on its merits.