FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/4/2019 3:52 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97613-9

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTINE CONNER, an individual,

Petitioner/Appellant,

VS.

JEREMY MEADOWS, D.C.,

Respondent/Appellee.

ANSWER OF JEREMY MEADOWS, D.C. TO CHRISTINE CONNER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Patrick C. Sheldon, WSBA #11398 Jeffrey T. Kestle, WSBA #29648 FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 689-8500

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Conner's Claims

In her Complaint, Conner alleged that Dr. Meadows "administered chiropractic care," the "care was negligent and without informed consent,"

and Conner "suffered general and special damages as will be proven at trial." (CP 1-2)

In her responses to Dr. Meadows' written discovery requests, Conner alleged that Dr. Meadows caused her to suffer a right shoulder rotator cuff tear "in the process of attempting to execute a manipulation." (CP 55, 57)

B. The Trial Court Dismissed Conner's Claims on Summary Judgment

Dr. Meadows filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that Conner lacked the requisite expert medical testimony to establish that (1) Dr. Meadows breached the standard of care, (2) Dr. Meadows' breach proximately caused Conner's claimed injuries, and (3) Dr. Meadows failed to obtain Conner's informed consent. (CP 14-31)

Conner did not produce expert medical testimony in support of her summary judgment opposition.

The trial court granted Dr. Meadows' motion for summary judgment. (CP 202-205)

C. The Appeals Court Affirmed the Trial Court's Dismissal

On August 5, 2019, the Appeals Court filed its unpublished opinion, which reads, in part, "Christine Conner appeals the summary judgment dismissal of her negligence claim against her chiropractor, Dr. Jeremy Meadows. Because Conner did not produce expert testimony

establishing that Dr. Meadows breached the standard of care, the trial court properly granted summary judgment. We affirm." Opinion, p. 1. The opinion concludes as follows: "Here, Conner fails to establish that her shoulder pain could only have resulted from Dr. Meadow's negligence. A chiropractic procedure followed by shoulder pain is not so palpably negligent that it may be inferred as a matter of law. Nor could a layperson's general experience and observation show that it is negligent. Only expert testimony could have established that Dr. Meadows performed the adjustment in the wrong position or in an otherwise negligent manner. Conner presented no such testimony. The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur did not relieve Conner of her burden to present expert testimony." Opinion, p. 8.

III. ARGUMENT

This Court should deny Conner's Petition on the grounds that it (1) fails to conform to RAP 13.4; (2) improperly raises new issues which make them unsuitable for review under RAP 13.3 and (3) fails to demonstrate that the Trial Court or the Court of Appeals failed to apply the appropriate law when the Trial Court granted Dr. Meadows' motion for summary judgment and the Court of Appeals affirmed that decision.

A. Conner Failed to Comply with the Rules of Appellate Procedure

This Court has set forth the requirements for obtaining review of a Court of Appeals decision in RAP 13.4. Subsection (b) of the rule enumerates standards when the Court may accept review, expressly stating such review will be granted "only" if one of the following is met: (1) the decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, (2) the decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, (3) the decision involves a significant question of constitutional law, or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

In order for this Court to evaluate whether any of these conditions exist, the petition must include "A direct and concise statement of the reasons why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in subsection (b), with argument." RAP 13.4(c)(7).

Conner's Petition fails to identify which, if any, of the considerations in RAP 13.4(b) warrant review. The rule is not cited anywhere in her Petition. Conner reiterates the merits of her appeal but she fails to address whether review is appropriate under RAP 13.4. Accordingly, the Court should deny review out of hand. *See State v.*

Korum, 157 Wn.2d 614, 624-25, 141 P.3d 13 (2006) (declining to review issue because of petitioner's failure to comply with RAP 13.4).

Even a cursory review of the briefing in this matter demonstrates there are no conflicts with Supreme Court or Court of Appeals precedent. The requirement of expert testimony in medical negligence cases on the issues of breach of the standard of care, informed consent and proximate cause has been controlling law for decades. There are clearly no constitutional issues presented. Nothing raised in this appeal remotely rises to a level of "substantial public interest" as RAP 13.4(b) requires.

B. <u>Conner's Petition Improperly Raises Certain Issues for the</u> <u>First Time</u>

Conner's opening appellate brief raised the following three assignments of error:

- Issue 1: Can admissions from a Defendant constitute "expert testimony" in a medical negligence case?
- Issue 2: Was the sum of the evidence sufficient to support a finding that the Defendant was negligent?
- Issue 3: Was the sum of the evidence sufficient to support a finding that Defendant's negligence was a proximate cause of injury to the Plaintiff?

Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 3.

In her Petition, however, she raises the following four issues for review:

- 1) In medical malpractice cases must "proof that injury resulted from the failure of the healthcare provider to follow the accepted standard of care" be done in a particular "format" or "script?"
- 2) Must "proof" of a standard of care violation be entirely by expert testimony, or may lay testimony be considered as well?
- 3) Whether a health care provider's own testimony, that shoulder injury is "not a recognized risk" of the chiropractic maneuver he performed upon his patient, supports a finding that such an injury was the result of a "breach of the standard of care"?
- 4) Whether such testimony that shoulder injury is "not a recognized risk" of the maneuver would support, for purposes of the application of *res ipsa loquitur*, a finding that such injury "does not ordinarily occur in the absence of negligence"?

Petition for Review, p 3.

For the first time Conner argues in her Petition that lay testimony should be considered evidence that a defendant *breached* the standard of care. She cites *Douglas v. Bussabarger*, 73 Wn.2d 476, 478, 438 P.2d 829 (1968) to establish that Dr. Meadows' testimony serves as evidence of the standard of care; but she now argues that her own *lay* testimony should be sufficient to establish breach of that standard. This is a distinction without a difference because neither alleviates or meets Conner's burden of proof on proximate cause. Conner's failure to establish through expert testimony that the adjustment was the proximate cause of injury remains fatal. As the Court of Appeals properly concluded, "Conner fails to

establish that her shoulder pain could only have resulted from Dr. Meadow's (sic) negligence." Opinion, p. 8.

Conner also resurrects the issue of informed consent in her Petition, which she did not raise on appeal. As the Appeals Court noted, "Conner also alleged that Dr. Meadows failed to obtain her informed consent for the procedure. Conner does not challenge the summary judgment dismissal of this claim." Opinion, footnote 1. Notwithstanding her failure to address informed consent on appeal, Conner now improperly cites Dr. Meadows' testimony about the risks of chiropractic to argue her contention that Dr. Meadows breached the standard of care. But Dr. Meadows' testimony is relevant to that inquiry only if: (1) Conner presents expert testimony contradicting his assessment of the risks of treatment, or (2) she has established proximate cause through expert opinion testimony. As the Trial Court and the Appellate Court already concluded, she failed to proffer any expert testimony of any kind at any time during the pendency of her case. As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, "A chiropractic procedure followed by shoulder pain is not so palpably negligent that it may be inferred as a matter of law." Opinion, p. 8.

This Court will not ordinarily consider an issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals. *State v. Halstein*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130,

857 P.2d 270 (1993); RAP 13.3(a) (allowing a party to seek review of a "decision" of the Court of Appeals). Conner failed to raise the admissibility of lay testimony on the issue of breach of duty and informed consent on appeal. As such, those issues are not subject to review by this Court.

C. Conner Fails to Address the Legal Issues Upon Which the Appeals Court Decision Is Based

Conner's silence on the merits of the Court of Appeals' decision is deafening. Conner has not cited any legal authority controverting that decision. Washington law is well-settled on this point. In all but the most extraordinary situations, a medical malpractice plaintiff must produce expert medical testimony to establish that (1) the defendant medical provider breached the standard of care, and (2) the breach proximately caused the plaintiff's injuries. *Guile v. Ballard Community Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 21, 851 P.2d 689 (1993) (citing *Harris v. Groth*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983)). The Court of Appeals expressly held that Conner's case does not fall within any of the very narrow and limited exceptions.

As noted above, the Court of Appeals swept aside these arguments reaffirming the requirement of expert testimony on the issues of the breach of the standard of care, informed consent and proximate cause. It firmly

rejected the applicability of res ipsa loquitur to this case. Instead it held,

"Only expert testimony could have established that Dr. Meadows

performed the adjustment in the wrong position or in an otherwise

negligent manner. Conner presented no such testimony. The doctrine of

res ipsa loquitur did not relieve Conner of her burden to present expert

testimony." Opinion, p. 8.

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This Court should deny Conner's Petition for Review. The Court

of Appeals properly affirmed the Trial Court's dismissal given the lack of

any expert testimony supporting Conner's medical negligence allegations.

Conner fails to establish any enumerated standard by which the Court can

accept her Petition pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Without citing other

controlling precedent, Conner asks this Court to deviate from well-settled

Appeals Court and Supreme Court decisions. The Petition must be

denied.

DATED this 4th day of October, 2019.

FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S.

n...l

atrick C. Sheldon, WSBA #11398

Jeffrey T. Kestle, WSBA #29648

Attorneys for Respondent

Jeremy Meadows, D.C.